East Herts Draft District Plan: Frequently Asked Questions (January 2014)

Contents

1 What is the current Plan?	4
2 Why do we need a Plan?	4
3 Where is the evidence underlying the Plan?	5
4 What is the scope of the Plan?	5
5 Who has made the decisions on the draft Plan?	5
6 Have alternative options been considered?	6
7 Why is the Plan housing-led? What about employment?	7
8 Can the Council reduce the amount of housing and development proposed in the Plan?	7
9 Will the necessary supporting infrastructure be provided in a timely fashion?	8
10 What about water supplies and waste water capacity?	8
11 What about transport impacts?	9
12 Have landowners and developers been involved in the strategy selection process?	10
13 Why does the plan include development in the Green Belt?	10
14 How can the Draft District Plan include development north of Bishop's Stortford when this is currently the subject of planning applications?	11
15 Didn't the Council previously reject the County Council's schools proposals south of Whittington Way, Bishop's Stortford?	11

Contents

16 Doesn't the Council oppose development north of Harlow any more?	12
17 What is the role of Localism and Neighbourhood Planning in the District Plan?	13
18 What is the difference between a site allocation and a broad location for development?	14
19 What is the difference between a DPD and an SPD?	15
20 What is the difference between a Group 1 village and a Group 2 village?	16
21 What are the guiding principles behind the Plan?	17
22 How can I have my say?	17

4

1 What is the current Plan?

1.1 The Local Plan 2007 is the current statutory development plan for the district, together with the Minerals and Waste plans prepared by Hertfordshire County Council. It includes a number of site allocations, as well as development management policies, and policies relating to specific designations such as employment areas, leisure and recreation, and Green Belt. It also contains place-specific policies covering the towns and villages. It can be found at www.eastherts.gov.uk/localplan. The Local Plan is used as the basis for decisions taken by the on planning applications. Legislation requires that decisions on planning applications are made in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Material considerations are all other relevant planning issues that could be taken into account.

2 Why do we need a Plan?

- A plan ensures that there is clarity about where and how much development will happen in the future. This enables local people and businesses to make decisions about their own activities. The 2007 Local Plan is now out of date and although the majority of the topic-based policies are saved (or still legally relevant), there is no plan to identify locations where development should be focused.
- Having a plan also means that 'larger than local' decisions to do with infrastructure planning can be addressed between all the relevant bodies. For example, investment in utilities and hospital facilities may take many years to plan and build. Since there is no longer a County or regional-wide plan in place that would manage issues such as infrastructure which affect several districts or boroughs, the District Plan will provide important information to enable the relevant parties to make infrastructure enhancements. It will also allow the District Council to lobby central government and other funding bodies as necessary to provide the necessary infrastructure to support growth.
- 2.3 Without a plan it is likely that development proposals would be advanced which may be inappropriate in terms of their location and poorly supported by infrastructure. Should the Council refuse proposals of this nature and in the absence of more appropriate development, there would be significant risk of applicants making successful appeals to the Planning Inspectorate to overturn the Council's decisions. This would be an expensive and time consuming process.

3 Where is the evidence underlying the Plan?

- 3.1 The evidence can be found in five main locations on the Council's website:
 - Technical studies: www.eastherts.gov.uk/technicalstudies
 - A Supporting Document explains the process of defining and shortlisting options: www.eastherts.gov.uk/supportingdocument
 - The Interim Development Strategy Report draws on the evidence in the Supporting Document and the Technical Studies and explains the selected strategy: www.eastherts.gov.uk/strategyreport
 - An Infrastructure Topic Paper explains the approach to infrastructure planning and the further work to be done before Examination in Public (a public meeting with a Planning Inspector to discuss the proposed plan): www.eastherts.gov.uk/infrastructure
 - The Sustainability Appraisal of the draft District Plan assesses alternative options: <u>www.eastherts.gov.uk/sa</u>
- 3.2 The evidence underlying the plan runs to thousands of pages, but is considered proportionate to the needs of a plan which covers the whole district and beyond. All the evidence will be clearly signposted as part of the consultation on the Draft District Plan. A presentation setting out the background and approach to the development strategy was delivered to the District Planning Executive Panel on 16 January 2014. A copy of the presentation and link the webcast available to is www.eastherts.gov.uk/districtplan.

4 What is the scope of the Plan?

4.1 Most detailed issues can only be addressed in relation to specific proposals put forward in a planning application and scrutinised through the Development Management process. The District Plan should be viewed as part of an end-to-end process. It sets the overall framework for development, but there will be issues specific to a particular site or planning application that need to be considered in addition to the District Plan. Examples of issues which are beyond the scope of the plan include detailed environmental health issues, ecological surveys, and detailed transport and infrastructure issues.

5 Who has made the decisions on the draft Plan?

- East Herts Council is the Local Planning Authority and its responsibilities include production of a statutory plan to guide development. Officers prepare the plan, but have no power to make decisions.
- All decisions are made by Full Council, comprising all 50 elected Ward Members of East Herts Council. All work on the District Plan has been presented to the District Planning Executive Panel for scrutiny before being

- passed to the Executive and then Full Council. The District Planning Executive Panel is open to all East Herts Members to attend and ask questions. The sessions are all public meetings. The agendas, Minutes, and webcasts are all posted on the Council's website.
- The District Planning Executive Panel is constituted of three Members of the Executive: Councillor Mike Carver, Executive Member for Strategic Planning and Transport and Chair of the Panel, Councillor Linda Haysey, Executive Member for Health, Housing, and Community Support, and Councillor Suzanne Rutland-Barsby, Executive Member for Community Partnership and Liaison. The three Members of the Panel make recommendations to Executive and Full Council but do not make policy decisions.
- The draft Plan has 'emerged' from the evidence and national policy requirements, as the outcome of a rigorous and transparent process, rather than being 'chosen' by any individual or group of individuals. All the evidence is on the Council's website at www.eastherts.gov.uk/districtplan, along with links to webcasts and Minutes of all relevant Council meetings.
- The Council is constrained by the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the legal system within which planning operates. Compliance with the NPPF is assessed at Examination in Public presided over by a government-appointed Planning Inspector before the Council can adopt the plan. The Inspector may recommend the Council to change any aspect of its plan which is not in conformity with the NPPF or other legal and planning requirements. The Council is undertaking a robust and comprehensive process of plan preparation in order to avoid having to withdraw the plan at the last stage. Failure to follow the Inspector's recommendations would mean that, should the Council nevertheless decide to adopt the plan unchanged, it would be at very high risk of challenge through the courts.

6 Have alternative options been considered?

- Yes. The Council has assessed 69 'areas of search'. The details of the assessments are set out in the Supporting Document to the District Plan (see Question 3). The rejected options were assessed through a Sustainability Appraisal of the selected options.
- 6.2 Alternative district-wide growth levels have not been considered as part of the Sustainability Appraisal process because the Council is required to make every attempt to meet its housing requirements (see point 8 below).

7

7 Why is the Plan housing-led? What about employment?

- 7.1 Whilst East Herts has a strong SME (Small and Medium Sized Enterprise) sector, its main economic role is in terms of the sub-regional labour market, providing many workers for major employment centres outside the district, including Stansted Airport, Hatfield Business Park, Stevenage, Harlow, Cambridge, and of course London.
- 7.2 Many skilled professional workers are attracted to East Herts as a place to live by the high quality of life on offer here. The combination of pleasant places to live with skilled job availability provides the foundations of the sub-regional economy.
- 7.3 The East Herts plan should therefore be understood as complementary to plans for economic development in neighbouring districts. Stevenage, Harlow, and Broxbourne all have aspirations to grow their employment offer.
- 7.4 It should be remembered that many of the businesses of East Herts itself depend on local customers, and that there is a strong link between local customers and vitality of the shopping centres. Development in the district will also assist local businesses to grow, by supporting the provision of small but well-located opportunities for new employment land throughout the district.
- 7.5 Further information is available in the Council's Strategic Economic Development Advice (2012). This can be found using the Technical Studies link detailed in Question 3.

8 Can the Council reduce the amount of housing and development proposed in the Plan?

8.1 No. One of the Core Principles of the National Planning Policy Framework is that "every effort should be made objectively to identify and then meet the housing, business, and other development needs of an area, and respond positively to wider opportunities for growth". For East Herts the objectively assessed need amounts to 15,000 homes over 20 years according to official statistics published by the Department for Communities and Local Government. Whilst some local planning authorities may be able to make a case that a reduction in housing supply is justified due to particular constraints, the projected level of housing need itself cannot be adjusted, and is the starting point for consideration. Indeed, under the Duty to Co-Operate contained within the Localism Act 2011 and applied through the NPPF, such authorities would need to find another Council willing to accept the unmet housing need by providing additional sites on their behalf. In the case of East Herts, such an approach would not be reasonable given the availability of other otherwise suitable sites within the District.

Were the Council to seek to reduce the level of housing it would almost certainly be found unsound by a Government-appointed Planning Inspector at Examination in Public. This would result in substantial costs to local taxpayers and would mean that there would not be a framework in place to promote development where appropriate, and restrict it where inappropriate (see question 2 above).

9 Will the necessary supporting infrastructure be provided in a timely fashion?

- 9.1 East Herts Council has prepared the draft District Plan but is reliant on external providers to deliver the majority of the critical infrastructure and services to support development. The Council's role involves dialogue and co-ordination, but is not itself able to commit to delivery of infrastructure. For this reason the Council's plan needs to include a degree of flexibility and monitor the changing position in relation to infrastructure delivery over time.
- 9.2 Whilst there is always an element of uncertainty around infrastructure provision over such a long time period, there is a reasonable level of confidence that the infrastructure can be delivered. Further work over the coming year in the lead-up to examination will assemble further evidence in this respect. The Infrastructure Topic Paper sets out the key issues, and these will be worked up further through a Delivery Study leading to an Infrastructure Delivery Plan to support the District Plan at Examination in Public.
- 9.3 In some cases, critical infrastructure such as new schools will need to be built, and this will take a number of years. In such cases interim solutions to expanded school capacity are normally available to enable the gradual scaling up of capacity to the point where the new school can be filled. The plan also identifies options for potential provision of new school sites, which have the capacity to grow and expand over time. The provision of new sites is essential to enable the provision of high-quality educational facilities, given the identified limitations to the amount of capacity which can be provided at existing schools. The draft plan identifies potential new secondary school sites at Bishop's Stortford, the Gilston Area (north of Harlow), north of Ware, and east of Welwyn Garden City.

10 What about water supplies and waste water capacity?

- 10.1 The Council has worked with Affinity Water as the water supply company and Thames Water as the waste water company.
- Supported by Affinity Water and the Environment Agency, the draft District Plan includes water efficiency targets for new development in excess of Building Regulation requirements and seeks to address concerns over water

pressure in some locations. However, East Herts Council has expressed concerns to Affinity Water and the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) in respect of the company's draft Water Resources Management Plan (WRMP), which relies on increased water efficiency measures to offset the projected increase in consumption from population increases. The issue of water resources is a matter for the national regulatory framework. The Planning Inspectorate does not view general water resources issues as a reason to reduce the housing requirement. Reflecting this, the Council cannot view water supply issues as a basis for seeking to lower the amount of development in the plan.

Thames Water operates the waste water network and sewage treatment facilities. The company has advised that there is currently capacity in the network. The company has also advised where new sewers and upgraded treatment works will be needed to support development. Promoters in the Gilston Area (north of Harlow) have proposed a new sewage treatment works. Further details are provided in the Infrastructure Topic Paper.

11 What about transport impacts?

- East Herts Council takes advice on transport matters from Hertfordshire County Council as transport and highway authority for the county. Advice has also been sought from the Highways Agency, which is responsible for the motorway network, and from Essex County Council, since aspects of the draft plan will have impacts beyond Hertfordshire. Transport modelling has been undertaken to inform the plan-making process and understand the cumulative impacts of development not just in East Herts but also across administrative boundaries.
- 11.2 Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that "development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts are severe." The Council is not aware of any other examples where the Planning Inspectorate has accepted transport severity as a reason to reduce the level of development in a Local or District Plan. Highways safety rather than speed of traffic flow is emerging as the main concern of the highways and transport authorities. This will need to be kept under review as work on the plan progresses and further evidence is assembled.
- Hertfordshire County Council has provided a Transport Update (November 2013) which sets out the available evidence in relation to the options underlying the draft District Plan. Further work will be produced during 2014. However, the District Plan is an early part of the end-to-end planning process (see Question 4). Detailed assessment of site-specific transport matters occurs through a Transport Assessment as part of the planning application process.

11.4 The proposed Development Plan Documents (see below) at strategic scale growth locations will allow for further detailed testing of transport impacts, working with landowner and developer transport consultants.

12 Have landowners and developers been involved in the strategy selection process?

In order to produce an effective plan it is essential to take into account whether there is any party that will actively bring a site forward, what they are proposing, and what other information they may have which could inform the plan. Given the large number of site options remaining at shortlisting stage (summer 2012) a questionnaire was issued to all known owners and responses were collected and reviewed. There have been no direct meetings between site owners and Planning Officers or Members from East Herts Council. However, the Council asked ATLAS, the Homes and Communities Agency's planning experts, to gather further information through targeted landowner meetings, sufficient to the requirements of this stage in the plan-making process. The notes of all these meetings, and the landowner responses to the questionnaire, are all on the Council's website at www.eastherts.gov.uk/developerinfo.

13 Why does the plan include development in the Green Belt?

- 13.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires all Local Planning Authorities to make every effort to meet their objectively assessed housing needs (see question 8 above). Housing and development needs may constitute the required exceptional circumstances to review the Green Belt. Local Planning Authorities have the power to review the Green Belt in their Local or District Plans.
- Housing need in East Herts amounts to 15,000 dwellings. Within the existing built-up areas of the towns there is capacity to accommodate around 1,500 dwellings at identified sites, with around another 1,200 at 'windfall' sites (i.e. permissions granted at previously unidentified sites through property conversions and demolitions for example). Whilst the northern part of the district includes areas not in the Green Belt, delivering the required level of development in this area, away from the infrastructure and facilities of the main towns, would not represent a sustainable or achievable development strategy.
- 13.3 The Council has undertaken a Green Belt Review technical study which assesses the role of all areas of the District's Green Belt against the purposes of Green Belt as a strategic planning tool, as set out in the NPPF, and looked in detail at potential boundaries at those locations shortlisted by the Council for further study (see the Supporting Document).

The Interim Development Strategy Report takes account of the technical recommendations of the Green Belt review and compares this with national housing requirements, which form the exceptional circumstances needed to justify Green Belt release. The proposed new Green Belt boundaries are shown on the draft Policies Map which accompanies the draft District Plan.

14 How can the Draft District Plan include development north of Bishop's Stortford when this is currently the subject of planning applications?

14.1 The District Plan addresses the principles of development with regard to scale and location of development over the long term. The current planning applications are advancing specific development proposals put forward by the landowners and developers. They are being assessed within the context of the Local Plan 2007, the National Planning Policy Framework and all relevant material considerations. The draft District Plan is informed by a review of relevant evidence from the planning application process. This review has confirmed that there are no in-principle reasons why development north of Bishop's Stortford should not be included as a site allocation within the plan, irrespective of the Council's decisions in relation to detailed matters of the planning application.

15 Didn't the Council previously reject the County Council's schools proposals south of Whittington Way, Bishop's Stortford?

- Yes. The Council rejected the proposals within the context of the Local Plan 2007. The Planning Inspector and Secretary of State agreed that Hertfordshire County Council had not sufficiently explored alternative options for school expansion to justify the very special circumstances to allow development to take place in the Green Belt.
- There is currently no finalised strategy in place from the County Council, as the local authority with responsibility for education in Hertfordshire, to ensure the provision of education capacity in the town. Until such time as this issue has been resolved, it is necessary for the District Plan to keep open the range of possible options for the provision of enhanced educational capacity in the town. Since this land has been identified as a possible residential development site, that includes the possibility of educational development here.
- Aside from school provision, the other major consideration relates to housing requirements arising from the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to meet their housing needs, particularly in the first five years (2016-2021). The Council has had regard

- to the impact on the Hertfordshire Way, a footpath which runs through the site, and the sloping nature of the site amongst other considerations. However, in the absence of less harmful sites elsewhere, and considering the unmet need in the Housing Market Area, these concerns are considered to be outweighed by NPPF housing requirements.
- 15.4 A Housing Market Area is the geographical area which is relatively self-contained in terms of reflecting people's choice of location for a new home. They are often based upon travel-to-work routes along major transport networks.

16 Doesn't the Council oppose development north of Harlow any more?

- The Council opposed the imposition of large-scale development north of Harlow through the East of England Plan (the now revoked Regional Plan for the eastern counties of the UK), and endorsed the conclusions of the Independent Panel which rejected the concept. However, the Panel's recommendations were subsequently rejected by the Secretary of State, who retained the policy to enable development here in the final Regional Plan. East Herts Council has reiterated its opposition to development north of Harlow since that time.
- However, all Local Planning Authorities are obliged to make every effort to meet their housing needs (see Section 8 above). After extensive consideration of the full range of options, and taking unmet need into account, development in the Gilston Area (north of Harlow) is considered to be the least unfavourable location where those needs could be met to achieve the housing requirement in full. The alternatives have been examined through the strategy selection process and sustainability appraisal (see Section 6 above) and are either not feasible at the present time, or are less sustainable.
- The Localism Act 2011 contains a Duty to Co-Operate which requires Local Planning Authorities to take account of the needs of their neighbours. Harlow Council supports large-scale growth in the Gilston Area (north of Harlow), providing that the necessary supporting infrastructure is provided. Harlow Council's aim is to attract skilled workers to the local area and achieve critical mass to enable the transformation of the town. This position has been confirmed through a recent meeting of Councillors. The agreed notes of all Duty to Co-Operate Meetings held with neighbouring authorities are available on the Council's website.
- 16.4 If East Herts Council were to proceed to Examination in Public of its own Plan without being able to demonstrate that it has reasonably considered Harlow Council's aspirations, in the absence of demonstrable evidence, then it is likely the plan will be found 'unsound'. Failure to do so would mean that

East Herts Council would fail the Duty to Co-Operate and would fail against housing requirements, and so the Council could not produce a plan to guide development anywhere in the district.

- Whilst issues remain with regard to highways and transport matters in relation to development at land north of Harlow it is understood that the modelling to date does not provide sufficient evidence to demonstrate that transport solutions could not be found. Therefore, the transport authorities will need to commit to further work to assess potential transport solutions, and to appraise possible solutions based on a mix of schemes put forward by the developers.
- 16.6 Harlow Council and East Herts Council agree that development to the north of Harlow should not come forward without the supporting infrastructure, and recognise that the transport issues remain unresolved. Harlow Council is concerned about the potential impact of large-scale development on the Harlow road network without the necessary transport infrastructure.
- In order to comply with the Duty to Co-Operate, and to ensure rigorous and transparent testing, the Council is proposing to produce a further Development Plan Document (DPD) to cover the area. A DPD is much like a smaller version of a District Plan for a specific location or issue. They are subject to consultation and examination in the same way as the District Plan. The DPD will provide the opportunity for further investigation of the feasibility of development in the Gilston Area (north of Harlow), in consultation with Harlow Council, landowners and developers, Town and Parish Councils and other stakeholders as necessary to ensure a robust framework for considering whether growth is feasible and if so, what scale and form it should take.
- 16.8 If work on the DPD demonstrates that large-scale development in the Gilston Area (north of Harlow) is not feasible, the Council will need to be ready with other development options elsewhere in the district. The draft District Plan contains strong policies to ensure that development does not come forward until there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate that it is sustainable with regard to infrastructure. In the meantime the Gilston Area (north of Harlow) will remain in the Green Belt until at least until the DPD is adopted.

17 What is the role of Localism and Neighbourhood Planning in the District Plan?

Any Neighbourhood Plans coming forward in the future will need to be in conformity with the District Plan. The draft District Plan will provide a strategic framework within which Parish Councils may prepare a Neighbourhood Plan, should they wish to do so. The District Plan framework provides considerable scope for communities to get involved in local decisions about the location and design of development within each settlement.

- 17.2 Prior to adoption of the District Plan, Neighbourhood Plans will need to be in conformity with the Local Plan 2007. In preparing the draft District Plan, East Herts Council has taken account of the emerging Neighbourhood Plans, as well as non-statutory Parish Plans.
- 17.3 For planning to function, there needs to be a strategic planning tier to enable joined-up decisions about larger-than-local planning issues (see Question 2: Why do we need a plan?). The Government has decided that Districts and unitary authorities are the most appropriate level for strategic plan-making, combining democratic scrutiny from locally elected Councillors with a perspective on strategic issues above settlement level. The Localism Act 2011 contains a number of provisions which embed this strategic planning requirement, including the Duty to Co-Operate.
- 17.4 During 2014 East Herts Council will consider what advice or support it is able to offer to Town and Parish Councils wishing to prepare Neighbourhood Plans. This will update the 2011 Neighbourhood Planning Guidance Note www.eastherts.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning

18 What is the difference between a site allocation and a broad location for development?

- These are both policy designations found in Paragraph 157 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPFF). This states that Local Plans should:
 - a. "indicate broad locations for strategic development on a key diagram and land-use designations on a proposals map;
 - b. "allocate sites to promote development and flexible use of land, bringing forward new land where necessary, and provide detail on form, scale, access and quantum of development where appropriate"
- The draft District Plan Key Diagram shows Site Allocations as red areas and Broad Locations as orange stars enclosed by a dotted line in the form of an ellipse to indicate the general broad extent of the area under consideration without defining a boundary.
- 18.3 Site allocations have defined boundaries on the Key Diagram and on the Policies (Proposals) Map, and each is supported by a policy which will be used in the consideration of applications by the Council. Planning applications for site allocations will be encouraged in accordance with the policies set out in the District Plan.
- 18.4 Broad locations do not have identified site boundaries and further work will be required to determine the practicalities of delivery. District Plan policies on the Broad Locations will set out the high-level issues and define the scope

- of the DPD. Planning applications in relation to the Broad Locations are not encouraged until a full planning framework is in place in the form of a DPD (see below).
- Three Broad Locations for Development are identified in the draft District Plan: the Gilston Area (north of Harlow), North and East of Ware, and East of Welwyn Garden City. Each of these sites has outstanding issues which will need to be tested further. There is also uncertainty at each of these locations about the scale and mix of development, and in the case of Welwyn and Harlow, how it may relate to other strategic development in the area. All this will need further testing through a DPD (see below).
- 18.6 In the case of both Site Allocations and Broad Locations there will need to be a considerable amount of evidence gathered by the site promoters and submitted to the Local Planning Authority in support of any planning application.

19 What is the difference between a DPD and an SPD?

- 19.1 A Development Plan Document (DPD) is a statutory document prepared in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. A DPD must comply with the plan-making regulations for consultation and Examination in Public prior to adoption as policy by a Local Planning Authority. The East Herts Local Plan 2007 and the proposed District Plan are examples of DPDs.
- 19.2 The draft District Plan proposes a DPD to address the three Broad Locations for Development. A DPD will ensure that there is an appropriate vehicle for thorough testing of the Broad Locations, including options for scale, mix and infrastructure provision. Given the complex and challenging nature of delivery at these locations a DPD will offer an open and transparent basis for evidence gathering and testing with a range of stakeholders including the site promoters, Town and Parish Councils, and others as appropriate.
- 19.3 A DPD is considered an appropriate policy vehicle to support the Broad Location designation, to enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control and ensure that local communities have a stake in the development process.
- 19.4 In relation to SPDs, the National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) Glossary states: "Supplementary planning documents: Documents which add further detail to the policies in the Local Plan. They can be used to provide further guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as design. Supplementary planning documents are capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the development plan... (Paragraph 153): Supplementary planning documents should be used where

- they can help applicants make successful applications or aid infrastructure delivery, and should not be used to add unnecessarily to the financial burdens on development."
- 19.5 Two SPDs are proposed in the District Plan to support the site allocations for large sites to the north and south of Bishop's Stortford. These will enable detailed consideration of design and layout. For Bishop's Stortford North, it may be that a decision has already been made and resolved prior to Examination of the District Plan. However, it may also be the case that there will still be outstanding matters to address through further planning applications, and therefore the option to move forwards with an SPD linked to a policy in the District Plan DPD.
- 19.6 As with the DPDs, the SPDs will be subject to public consultation and working with stakeholders including site promoters, Town and Parish Councils, and others as necessary.

20 What is the difference between a Group 1 village and a Group 2 village?

- These are both local policy designations forming part of the proposed strategy for the District Plan. They have been introduced as a way of identifying the more sustainable villages with a wider range of services and facilities which are capable of accommodating some development.
- 20.2 Group 1 villages are those considered capable of accommodating a 10% increase in dwellings over the 2011 Census (when these figures are aggregated and published by Hertfordshire County Council). They are shown on the Key Diagram as orange circles with a black dot in the middle.
- 20.3 Group 2 villages are villages with a smaller range of services or which are otherwise constrained, and are considered to be capable of accommodating infill development only. No specific housing requirement will be apportioned to these villages, although it is expected that some development will be acceptable.
- 20.4 All other villages will be identified as Group 3 villages, in which being the smallest villages, no development beyond that which is appropriate in the Green Belt and Rural area Beyond the Green Belt would be acceptable.
- 20.5 It is anticipated that the Group 1 villages combined will be capable of providing around 500 new homes by 2031.
- 20.6 When the District Plan is adopted the Group 1, Group 2, and Group 3 designations will replace the Category 1, 2 and 3 village designations in the Local Plan 2007.

21 What are the guiding principles behind the Plan?

- 21.1 In addition to the Core Principles and requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), a set of locally derived Guiding Principles are set out in Section 3.3 of the Draft District Plan. These are as follows:
 - To seek to meet the housing requirement within each housing market area, even where local constraints mean that each settlement may not be able to meet its own needs;
 - 2. To prioritise the development of brownfield land and other appropriate sites within the urban areas of the settlements, but to avoid over-development of such sites;
 - 3. To promote self-containment by directing development to areas where there is reasonable proximity to services and facilities, and which reflect existing travel to work areas, school catchments, and retail spend patterns and functional geographies;
 - 4. Wherever possible to utilise readily available features to provide clear and unambiguous Green Belt boundaries;
 - 5. To allocate development sites unless there are clear planning reasons for not doing so, in order to provide clarity and certainty for local people, businesses and the development industry;
 - 6. To co-operate with adjoining authorities on cross-boundary strategic matters where it is reasonable to do so;
 - 7. To focus development in locations where the impacts on the historic and natural environment are minimised;
 - 8. To acknowledge that in the long term, the capacity for the market towns and villages to grow is constrained by the existing capacity and future potential of these settlements, and therefore long-term planning will need to look towards large-scale strategic development options;
 - To protect and enhance the rural area and the Green Belt outside the allocated development areas to preserve the countryside and the rural character of the District;
 - To encourage limited small-scale development in and around the identified villages, with an opportunity for neighbourhood planning to influence the type and location of development sites.

22 How can I have my say?

- There is a statutory requirement on Local Planning Authorities to consult for 6 weeks. East Herts Council will be consulting on the draft plan for 12 weeks in spring 2014. The Council's agreed procedure for handling consultations is set out in the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI).
- A 'reference only' copy of the Draft District Plan can be seen at all local libraries, leisure centres, Town Council offices and the District Council offices in Hertford and Bishop's Stortford. The Draft Plan and all supporting

- documents can be viewed online at www.eastherts.gov.uk/districtplan. Alternatively direct access to the consultation portal is via http://consult.eastherts.gov.uk (note: no 'www'.) You can also register online to receive updates on the progress of the Plan.
- 22.3 Comments should preferably be made online via the consultation portal. Alternatively, you can email us at planningpolicy@eastherts.gov.uk or write to the Planning Policy Team at East Herts Council, Wallfields, Pegs Lane, Hertford, SG13 8EQ.
- 22.4 You can also download a standard Comment Form from the website and printed copies will be available at all locations listed above.
- 22.5 All comments should be received by **5pm on Thursday 22nd May 2014**. The Council cannot guarantee that comments received after this time will be considered.
- 22.6 If you have any further questions on the Draft District Plan, please contact the Planning Policy Team on 01279 655261 or email at planningpolicy@eastherts.gov.uk.